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October 19, 2021
The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor
Members of the General Assembly
Board of Directors, Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Transmitted herewith is the financial and compliance audit of the Tennessee Rehabilitative
Initiative in Correction for the year ended June 30, 2020. You will note from the independent
auditor’s report that a qualified opinion was given on the fairness of the presentation of the
financial statements.
Consideration of internal control over financial reporting and tests of compliance disclosed certain
deficiencies, which are detailed in the Findings and Recommendations section of this report. The
agency’s management has responded to the audit findings; the responses are included following
each finding. The Division of State Audit will follow up the audit to examine the application of
the procedures instituted because of the audit findings.
Sincerely,

Katherine J. Stickel, CPA, CGFM, Director
Division of State Audit
21/031
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Opinion on the Financial Statements
A qualified opinion was issued on the financial statements.

Audit Findings
As noted in the prior audit, management needs to improve its procedures for preparing and
reviewing financial statements to prevent errors*
As noted in the prior audit, TRICOR’s management did not have adequate procedures for
preparing and reviewing its financial statements to ensure the accuracy and proper classification
of information (page 41).
Management did not properly account for inventories
TRICOR management did not properly account for inventories, increasing the risk of errors being
recorded and not discovered (page 45).
Management did not maintain accurate or complete capital asset supporting documentation
The TRICOR Property Officer and the Department of Finance and Administration’s Controller
stationed at TRICOR did not maintain accurate capital asset supporting documentation, increasing
the risk of capital asset misappropriation and the risk of errors being recorded in the general ledger
and the financial statements. In addition, TRICOR’s Property Officer did not maintain accurate
and complete capital asset records, including asset identification, location details, and disposal
information (page 48).
Management did not follow policies and procedures in one specific area
TRICOR management did not follow policies and procedures in one specific area. The details of
this finding are confidential pursuant to Section 10-7-504(i), Tennessee Code Annotated (page 52).
* This finding is repeated from the prior audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor
Members of the General Assembly
Board of Directors, Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative
in Correction, an internal service fund of the State of Tennessee, as of and for the year ended June
30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the fund’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
2

and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our qualified audit opinion.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
We were unable to observe physical year-end inventory at June 30, 2020, due to COVID-19
pandemic restrictions and concerns in the state prison system. As a result, we met with
management and requested specific supporting evidence of year-end inventory performance.
However, management was not able to provide sufficient, appropriate audit evidence for observing
year-end inventory, and we were unable to satisfy ourselves by performing other auditing
procedures for the inventory held at June 30, 2020, which is reported in the statement of net
position at $1,946,010, and for cost of sales and other related amounts for the year then ended.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to these amounts were
necessary.
Qualified Opinion
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction as of June
30, 2020, and the changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matter
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Tennessee Rehabilitative
Initiative in Correction, an internal service fund, and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly
the financial position of the State of Tennessee, as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to
this matter.
Other Matter - Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedule
of TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Closed State and Higher
Education Employee Pension Plan within TCRS on page 32; the schedule of TRICOR’s
proportionate share of the net pension asset for the State and Higher Education Employee
Retirement Plan within TCRS on page 33; the schedule of TRICOR’s contributions to the Closed
State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan within TCRS on page 34; the schedule of
TRICOR’s contributions to the State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan within
TCRS on page 35; the schedule of TRICOR’s proportionate share of the collective total/net OPEB
liability for the Closed State Employee Group OPEB Plan on page 36; the schedule of TRICOR’s
proportionate share of the collective total OPEB liability for the Closed Tennessee OPEB Plan on
page 37; and the schedule of TRICOR’s contributions to the Closed State Employee Group OPEB
plan on page 38 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
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although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
September 23, 2021, on our consideration of the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction’s
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, and contracts and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Katherine J. Stickel, CPA, CGFM, Director
Division of State Audit
September 23, 2021
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TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020
Assets
Current assets:
Cash (Note 2)
Accounts receivable (Note 3)
Inventories
Prepaid items
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Net pension asset (Note 8)
Capital assets, net (Note 4):
Land
Buildings and improvements
Mature breeding herd
Furniture and equipment
Software
Construction in progress
Immature breeding herd
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

$ 5,699,778
4,605,891
1,946,010
684,337
12,936,016
47,047
746,296
1,828,154
385,088
1,540,964
171,417
58,732
183,442
4,961,140
17,897,156

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflows related to pensions (Note 8)
Deferred outflows related to OPEB (Note 9)
Total deferred outflows of resources

969,428
202,563
1,171,991

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruals (Note 6)
Compensated absences (Note 7)
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences (Note 7)
Net pension liability (Note 8)
Net OPEB liability (Note 9)
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

435,745
2,173,984
593,857
3,203,586
6,117,946

Deferred inflows of resources
Deferred inflows related to pensions (Note 8)
Deferred inflows related to OPEB (Note 9)
Total deferred inflows of resources

535,165
508,760
1,043,925

2,702,572
211,788
2,914,360

Net position
Investment in capital assets
Restricted for pensions
Unrestricted
Total net position

4,914,093
47,047
6,946,136
$11,907,276

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Operating revenues
Sales
Services
Total operating revenues

$13,585,247
7,197,490
20,782,737

Operating expenses
Costs of sales and services
Cost of sales
Cost of services
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Freight and communications
Maintenance and repairs
Professional services
Rentals and insurance
Supplies
Travel
Utilities
Other
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

4,925,429
33,575
382,351
1,276,327
249,150
993,275
264,271
182,748
272,651
500,927
23,189,290

Operating loss

(2,406,553)

7,553,372
6,555,214

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Prison Industry Enhancement (PIE) Program recoveries
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Miscellaneous revenues (expenses)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Loss before transfers

1,403,420
(39,063)
78,237
1,442,594
(963,959)

Transfers In
Total transfers

116,246
116,246

Decrease in net position
Net position - beginning of year, as originally reported
Prior period adjustment (Note 12)
Net position - beginning of year, restated
Net position - end of year
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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(847,713)
12,456,534
298,455
12,754,989
$11,907,276

TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Other miscellaneous receipts
Payments to suppliers for goods and services
Payments to employees
Payments for benefits
Net cash used for operating activities

$18,571,661
78,237
(16,843,225)
(3,678,457)
(1,648,057)
(3,519,841)

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Receipts from interfund transfers
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

116,246
116,246

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Proceeds from insurance claims recoveries
Purchase of capital assets
Net cash used for capital and related financing activities

11,244
677,000
(2,334,981)
(1,646,737)

Net decrease in cash
Cash - beginning of year
Cash - end of year

(5,050,332)
10,750,110
$ 5,699,778

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used for operating activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation
Prison Industry Enhancement (PIE) Program recoveries
Other miscellaneous receipts
Change in assets, liabilities, and deferrals:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid items
Net pension asset
Deferred outflows of resources
Accounts payable and accruals
Compensated absences
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Net cash used for operating activities

(2,525,386)
349,889
(603,000)
(30,207)
489,019
(111,099)
14,809
(560,817)
593,857
(1,107,639)
394,702
$(3,519,841)

Noncash capital activities
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Loss on impairment of inventories
Loss on impairment of capital assets

$ (39,063)
$(1,378,027)
$(1,578,264)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$(2,406,553)
500,927
1,403,420
78,237

TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2020
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity
The Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction (TRICOR) was created by the Tennessee
General Assembly in 1994 under the provisions of Title 41, Chapter 22, Tennessee Code
Annotated, to manage and operate the correctional industry program for the State of Tennessee.
TRICOR has been included as an internal service fund in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report. That report is available on the state’s website at www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/faaccfin-ar.html. TRICOR’s statutorily mandated mission (Section 41-22-403, Tennessee Code
Annotated) includes these objectives:


work offenders in manufacturing, business services, or agricultural jobs;



offset the costs of incarceration by generating revenue through the sale of products or
business services;



develop work opportunities that minimize the impact on free-world jobs;



integrate work opportunities with education and vocational training;



develop good work habits and marketable skills;



develop and operate a post-release placement system; and



provide or create other programs and services as deemed necessary by TRICOR to
support an offender’s rehabilitation and reintegration efforts.

The General Assembly created a board of directors (Section 41-22-404, Tennessee Code
Annotated) to govern TRICOR. The board is responsible for developing jobs; training and
selecting Tennessee Department of Correction (TDOC) offenders for participation in industry,
business services, or agricultural programs; and selling products or services for the purpose of
generating revenue to offset the costs of incarceration. In addition, the board is responsible for
approving the annual operating plan of TRICOR (Section 41-22-408[c], Tennessee Code
Annotated).
The statute designated TDOC as a partner in this mission by making it responsible for assigning
offenders to TRICOR jobs that are developed by the board of directors. A large percentage of
TRICOR operations are located within TDOC institutions, while others are operated outside the
secure perimeters with offender labor, and in some cases, a TDOC security presence.
Program services are provided using a self-sustaining business model that aligns distinct strategic
business units and the support structure necessary to achieve performance expectations. Business
units serve customers through the sale of products and services provided by the offender workforce
participating in TRICOR programs. Businesses are operated using both cognitive behavioral skill
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
development and occupational skills training. TRICOR also focuses on the life skills needed to
successfully transition from prison to society, which include “soft” skills such as those needed to
gain and retain employment. These training opportunities are made available to program
participants through the sale of products and services, and the programming is funded wholly by
the collection of workforce development funds from offenders assigned to Private Industry
Enhancement program operations across the state. They are provided within TDOC at no charge
to that agency or to the taxpayers of Tennessee. In addition, as industry positions are highly prized
by the offender population, the behavior management benefits aid TDOC in overall prison
management issues.
Presentation, Measurement Focus, and Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and the
economic resources measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded at the time the liabilities are incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred
inflows of resources and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
TRICOR distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing goods and services in connection with
principal ongoing operations. TRICOR’s mission is “to prepare offenders for success after
release.” This is accomplished by engaging offenders in productive work and in programming
offenders. Any revenues and expenses not generated in these related activities would be reported
as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
TRICOR’s restricted resources deal only with pensions.
Cash
Cash is defined as demand deposits in the State Pooled Investment Fund.
Inventories
At year-end, inventories other than cattle held for sale are determined by physical count and are
valued at cost using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cattle held for sale are determined by
physical count and are valued using the average cost method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Capital Assets and Depreciation
Capital assets are defined as assets with a useful life of at least two years and a single-item value
in excess of $5,000. Capital assets are recorded at historical costs. All capital assets other than
land are depreciated using the straight-line method using these asset lives:
Buildings and building improvements
Furniture and equipment
Mature breeding herd (cattle)

20 to 50 years
3 to 20 years
5 years

Compensated Absences
TRICOR’s employees accrue annual leave at varying rates, depending on length of service or
classification.
TRICOR’s employees accrue sick leave at a rate of 7.5 hours per month.
The amount of the liability for annual leave and the related benefits are reported in the statement
of net position. There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave because TRICOR’s policy
is to pay this only if the employee is sick or upon death.
Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset); deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions; and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan and the
State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement
System (TCRS) and additions to/deductions from the plans’ fiduciary net positions have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the TCRS. For this purpose, benefits
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms of the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan and the
State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan. Investments are reported at fair value.
Other Postemployment Benefits
For purposes of measuring the net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability; deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB; and OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the Closed Employee Group OPEB Plan and
additions to/deductions from the plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported by the State of Tennessee Postemployment Benefits Trust. For this
purpose, benefits are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms of the
Closed Employee Group OPEB Plan. Investments are reported at fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Note 2. Deposits
TRICOR had $5,699,778 in the State Pooled Investment Fund (SPIF) at June 30, 2020. The SPIF,
administered by the State Treasurer, is authorized by statute to invest funds in accordance with
policy guidelines approved by the State Funding Board. The current resolution of that board gives
the Treasurer approval to invest in collateralized certificates of deposit in authorized state
depositories; prime commercial paper; prime bankers’ acceptances; bonds, notes, and bills of the
United States Treasury or other obligations guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United
States or any of its agencies; repurchase agreements for obligations of the United States or its
agencies; and securities lending agreements whereby securities may be loaned for a fee.
Investments in the SPIF are measured at amortized cost. The pooled investment fund’s required
risks disclosures are presented in the State of Tennessee Treasurer’s Report. That report is
available on the state’s website at https://treasury.tn.gov/ or by calling (615) 741-2956.

Note 3. Accounts Receivable
Receivables at June 30, 2020, consist of the following:
Receivables from other state agencies
Receivables from local governments
Receivables from private sector
Anticipated insurance recoveries
Other receivables
Accounts receivable

$1,362,039
26,360
1,057,143
1,980,356
179,993
$4,605,891

The accounts receivable amount represents the amount that is expected to be collected within one
year.

Note 4. Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

Land
Buildings and
improvements
Mature breeding herd
Furniture and equipment
Software
Construction in progress
Immature breeding herd
Total

Beginning
Balance
$ 746,296

Additions
$
-

2,038,552
148,960
8,841,778
700,735
47,098
12,523,419

89,492
351,700
1,709,859
58,732
183,442
2,393,225

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and
improvements
(291,858)
(2,153)
Mature breeding herd
Furniture and equipment
(7,050,251)
Software
(470,547)
Total
(7,814,809)
Capital assets, net

$ 4,708,610

Transfers
$
47,098
(47,098)
-

(55,130)
(72,695)
(390,627)
(58,771)
(577,223)
$1,816,002

$

Reductions
$
-

Ending
Balance
$ 746,296

(40,724)
(4,269,621)
(4,310,345)

2,175,142
459,936
6,282,016
700,735
58,732
183,442
10,606,299

-

2,699,826
2,699,826

(346,988)
(74,848)
(4,741,052)
(529,318)
(5,692,206)

-

$(1,610,519)

$ 4,914,093

Note 5. Leasing Arrangements
TRICOR’s leasing arrangements consist of noncancelable operating leases for warehouse space
and equipment that expire at various dates through 2025.
The following is a schedule by years of future minimum rental payments required of TRICOR
under all noncancelable operating leases with original terms of one year or more:
For the Year Ending June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Total minimum rental payments

$ 44,991
42,397
13,858
13,858
6,929
$ 122,033

The following schedule shows the composition of total rental expense for all operating leases for
the year ended June 30:
Minimum rentals:
Property
Equipment
Total minimum rentals

$138,450
38,062
$176,512
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Note 6. Accounts Payable and Accruals
Payables at June 30 consist of the following:
Payables to suppliers and vendors
Payables to other state agencies
Accruals for salaries and benefits
Accruals for contract employees
Other
Accounts payable and accruals

$ 1,582,209
100,015
256,517
659,205
104,626
$ 2,702,572

The accounts payable and accrued liabilities represent the amounts due within one year.

Note 7. Noncurrent Liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2020, include compensated absences described
as follows:
Beginning balance compensated absences
Additions
Deductions
Ending balance compensated absences
Compensated absences due within one year

$ 632,724
468,701
(453,892)
$ 647,533
$ 211,788

Note 8. Pension Plans
Defined Benefit Plans
Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan
General Information About the Pension Plan
Plan description – State employees and higher education employees with membership in the
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) before July 1, 2014, are provided with
pensions through the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan. This plan is a
component of the Public Employee Retirement Plan, an agent, multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plan. The Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan stopped accepting
new membership on June 30, 2014, but will continue providing benefits to existing members and
retirees. Beginning July 1, 2014, a new agent defined benefit retirement plan, the State and Higher
Education Employee Retirement Plan, became effective for state employees and higher education
employees hired on or after July 1, 2014.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
The TCRS was created by state statute under Title 8, Chapters 34–37, Tennessee Code Annotated.
The TCRS Board of Trustees is responsible for the proper operation and administration of all
employer pension plans in the TCRS. The Tennessee Treasury Department, an agency in the
legislative branch of state government, administers the plans of the TCRS. The TCRS issues a
publicly available financial report that can be obtained at https://treasury.tn.gov/Retirement/Boardsand-Governance/Reporting-and-Investment-Policies.
Benefits provided – Title 8, Chapters 34–37, Tennessee Code Annotated, establishes the benefit
terms and can be amended only by the Tennessee General Assembly. Members of the Closed
State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan are eligible to retire with an unreduced benefit
at age 60 with 5 years of service credit or after 30 years of service credit regardless of age. Benefits
are determined using the following formula:
Average of member’s highest
compensation for 5 consecutive
x
years (up to Social Security
integration level)

1.50%

x

Years of Service
x
Credit

105%

1.75%

x

Years of Service
x
Credit

105%

Plus:
Average of member’s highest
compensation for 5 consecutive
x
years (over the Social Security
integration level)

A reduced early retirement benefit is available at age 55 and vested. Members are vested with 5
years of service credit. Service-related disability benefits are provided regardless of length of
service. Five years of service is required for non-service-related disability eligibility. The servicerelated and non-service-related disability benefits are determined in the same manner as a service
retirement benefit but are reduced 10% and include projected service credits. A variety of death
benefits are available under various eligibility criteria. Member and beneficiary annuitants are
entitled to automatic cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs) after retirement. A COLA is granted
each July for annuitants retired prior to July 2 of the previous year. The COLA is based on the
change in the consumer price index (CPI) during the prior calendar year, capped at 3%, and applied
to the current benefit. No COLA is granted if the change in the CPI is less than 0.5%. A 1%
COLA is granted if the CPI change is between 0.5% and 1%. A member who leaves employment
may withdraw employee contributions, plus any accumulated interest.
Contributions – Contributions for state employees and higher education employees are established
in the statutes governing the TCRS and may only be changed by the Tennessee General Assembly.
TRICOR’s employees are non-contributory, as are most members in the Closed State and Higher
Education Employee Pension Plan. State and higher education agencies make employer
contributions at the rate set by the TCRS Board of Trustees as determined by an actuarial valuation.
By law, employer contributions for the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan
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are required to be paid. Employer contributions by TRICOR for the year ended June 30, 2020, to
the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan were $675,194, which is 19.66%
of covered payroll. The employer rate, when combined with member contributions, is expected to
finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the year and the cost of administration, as
well as an amortized portion of any unfunded liability.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions
Pension liability – At June 30, 2020, TRICOR reported a liability of $2,173,984 for its
proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June
30, 2019, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined
by an actuarial valuation as of that date. TRICOR’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of TRICOR’s contributions during the year ended June 30, 2019, to the
pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating state and higher education agencies.
At the June 30, 2019, measurement date, TRICOR’s proportion was 0.153947%. The proportion
measured as of June 30, 2018, was 0.169294%.
Pension expense – For the year ended June 30, 2020, TRICOR recognized pension expense of
$644,044.
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources – For the year ended June 30,
2020, TRICOR reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in assumptions
Changes in proportion of net pension liability
TRICOR’s contributions subsequent to the
measurement date of June 30, 2019
Total

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$102,206

$ 34,369

156,383
-

285,946
186,603

675,194
$933,783

$506,918

Deferred outflows of resources, resulting from TRICOR’s employer contributions of $675,194
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a decrease in net pension liability in
the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

15

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year Ended June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$ 123,034
(244,814)
(117,279)
(9,270)
-

In the table above, positive amounts will increase pension expense, while negative amounts will
decrease pension expense.
Actuarial assumptions – The total pension liability as of the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation

2.5%

Salary increases

Graded salary ranges from 8.72% to 3.44% based
on age, including inflation, averaging 4%

Investment rate of return

7.25%, net of pension plan investment expenses,
including inflation

Cost-of-living adjustment

2.25%

Mortality rates were developed by the actuary using the results of the actuarial experience study
performed for the period July 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016, and were adjusted for expected
future improvements in life expectancy. Mortality assumptions utilize the RP-2014 industry
standard base table adjusted for TCRS experience, with mortality improvements projected six
years beyond each actuarial valuation date.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation were based on the results
of an actuarial experience study performed for the period July 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016. The
demographic assumptions were adjusted to more closely reflect actual and expected future
experience.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS
Board of Trustees in conjunction with the June 30, 2016, actuarial experience study. This return
was selected from a range of values developed using historical market returns and future capital
market projections. The future capital market projections were produced using a building-block
method in which a best estimate of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) is developed for each major asset class. These best
estimates are combined to produce the future capital market projection by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation
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of 2.5%. The best estimates of geometric real rates of return and the TCRS investment policy
target asset allocation for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
Long-term Expected
Real Rate of Return
5.69%
5.29%
6.36%
5.79%
2.01%
4.32%
0.00%

Asset Class
U.S. equity
Developed market international equity
Emerging market international equity
Private equity and strategic lending
U.S. fixed income
Real estate
Short-term securities

Target
Allocation
31%
14%
4%
20%
20%
10%
1%
100%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS
Board of Trustees as 7.25% based on a comparison of historical market returns and future capital
market projections.
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions
will be made at the current rate and that contributions from all state and higher education agencies
will be made at the actuarially determined contribution rate in accordance with the funding policy
of the TCRS Board of Trustees and as required to be paid by state statute. Based on those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive members and to cover
administrative expenses. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.
Sensitivity of the proportionate share of net pension liability to changes in the discount rate – The
following presents TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net pension liability
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1
percentage point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:

TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability

1% Decrease
(6.25%)

Current
Discount Rate
(7.25%)

1% Increase
(8.25%)

$5,246,368

$2,173,984

$(325,426)

Pension plan fiduciary net position – Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in a separately issued TCRS financial report at
https://treasury.tn.gov/Retirement/Boards-and-Governance/Reporting-and-Investment-Policies.
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Payable to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2020, TRICOR reported a payable of $25,845 for the outstanding amount of legally
required contributions to the pension plan required for the year then ended.
State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan
General Information About the Pension Plan
Plan description – State and higher education employees with membership in the Tennessee
Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) before July 1, 2014, are provided with pensions through
the Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan, an agent plan within the Public
Employee Retirement Plan administered by the TCRS. TCRS is a multiple-employer pension
plan. The Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan was closed effective June
30, 2014, and covers employees hired before July 1, 2014. Employees hired after June 30, 2014,
are provided with pensions through a legally separate plan referred to as the State and Higher
Education Employee Retirement Plan, an agent plan within the Public Employee Retirement Plan
administered by the TCRS. The TCRS was created by state statute under Title 8, Chapters 34–37,
Tennessee Code Annotated.
Benefits provided – Title 8, Chapters 34–37, Tennessee Code Annotated, establishes the benefit
terms and can be amended only by the Tennessee General Assembly. Members of the State and
Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan are eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of service
credit or pursuant to the rule of 90 in which the member’s age and years of service credit total 90.
Members are entitled to receive unreduced service retirement benefits, which are determined by a
formula multiplying the member’s highest 5 consecutive years’ average compensation by 1%
multiplied by the member’s years of service credit. A reduced early retirement benefit is available
at age 60 with 5 years of service credit or pursuant to the rule of 80 in which a member’s age and
years of service credit total 80. Service-related disability benefits are provided regardless of length
of service. Five years of service is required for non-service-related disability eligibility. The
service-related and non-service-related disability benefits are determined in the same manner as a
service retirement benefit but are reduced 10% and include projected service credits. A variety of
death benefits are available under various eligibility criteria.
Member and beneficiary annuitants are entitled to automatic cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs)
after retirement. A COLA is granted each July for annuitants retired prior to July 2 of the previous
year. The COLA is based on the change in the consumer price index (CPI) during the prior
calendar year, capped at 3%, and applied to the current benefit. No COLA is granted if the change
in the CPI is less than 0.5%. A 1% COLA is granted if the CPI change is between 0.5% and 1%.
A member who leaves employment may withdraw employee contributions, plus any accumulated
interest.
Contributions – Contributions for state and higher education employees are established in the
statutes governing the TCRS and may only be changed by the Tennessee General Assembly.
Employees contribute 5% of their salary to the State and Higher Education Employee Retirement
Plan. TRICOR makes employer contributions at the rate set by the TCRS Board of Trustees as
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determined by an actuarial valuation. By law, employer contributions for the State and Higher
Education Employee Retirement Plan are required to be paid. Employer contributions by TRICOR
for the year ended June 30, 2020, to the State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan
were $22,513, which is 1.73% of covered payroll. The employer rate, when combined with
member contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the
year and the cost of administration, as well as an amortized portion of any unfunded liability.
Pension Assets, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions
Pension asset – At June 30, 2020, TRICOR reported an asset of $47,047 for its proportionate share
of the net pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of that date. TRICOR’s proportion of the net pension asset was based on a projection of
TRICOR’s contributions during the year ended June 30, 2019, to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating state and higher education agencies. At the June 30, 2019,
measurement date, TRICOR’s proportion was 0.113428%. At the June 30, 2018, measurement
date, TRICOR’s proportion was 0.043659%.
Pension expense – For the year ended June 30, 2020, TRICOR recognized pension expense of
$13,847.
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources – For the year ended June 30,
2020, TRICOR reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in assumptions
Changes in proportion of net pension asset
TRICOR’s contributions subsequent to the
measurement date of June 30, 2019
Total

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$ 1,049

$ 1,526

1,300
10,783

1,943
24,778

22,513
$35,645

$28,247

Deferred outflows of resources, resulting from TRICOR’s employer contributions of $22,513
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a decrease in net pension liability in
the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
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Year Ended June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$(2,036)
(2,280)
(1,770)
(1,491)
(1,262)
(6,276)

In the table above, positive amounts will increase pension expense, while negative amounts will
decrease pension expense.
Actuarial assumptions – The total pension liability as of the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation

2.5%

Salary increases

Graded salary ranges from 8.72% to 3.44% based
on age, including inflation, averaging 4%

Investment rate of return

7.25%, net of pension plan investment expenses,
including inflation

Cost-of-living adjustment

2.25%

Mortality rates were developed by the actuary using the results of the actuarial experience study
performed for the period July 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016, and were adjusted for expected
future improvements in life expectancy. Mortality assumptions utilize the RP-2014 industry
standard base table adjusted for TCRS experience, with generational mortality improvement.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation were based on the results
of an actuarial experience study performed for the period July 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016. The
demographic assumptions were adjusted to more closely reflect actual and expected future
experience.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS
Board of Trustees in conjunction with the June 30, 2016, actuarial experience study. This return
was selected from a range of values developed using historical market returns and future capital
market projections. The future capital market projections were produced using a building-block
method in which a best estimate of expected real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense and inflation) is developed for each major asset class. These best
estimates are combined to produce the future capital marked projection by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation
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of 2.5%. The best estimates of geometric real rates of return and the TCRS investment policy
target asset allocation for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
Asset Class
U.S. equity
Developed market international equity
Emerging market international equity
Private equity and strategic lending
U.S. fixed income
Real estate
Short-term securities

Long-term Expected
Real Rate of Return
5.69%
5.29%
6.36%
5.79%
2.01%
4.32%
0.00%

Target Allocation
31%
14%
4%
20%
20%
10%
1%
100%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS
Board of Trustees as 7.25% based on a comparison of historical market returns and future capital
market projections.
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions
will be made at the current rate and that contributions from all state and higher education agencies
will be made at the actuarially determined contribution rate in accordance with the funding policy
of the TCRS Board of Trustees and as required to be paid by state statute. Based on those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive members. Therefore, the longterm expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the proportionate share of net pension asset to changes in the discount rate – The
following presents TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net pension asset calculated using the
discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what TRICOR’s proportionate share of the net pension asset
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1
percentage point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:

TRICOR’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset)

1% Decrease
(6.25%)

Current
Discount Rate
(7.25%)

1% Increase
(8.25%)

$7,707

$(47,047)

$(88,237)

Pension plan fiduciary net position – Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in a separately issued TCRS financial report at
https://treasury.tn.gov/Retirement/Boards-and-Governance/Reporting-and-Investment-Policies.
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Payable to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2020, TRICOR reported a payable of $1,016 for the outstanding amount of legally
required contributions to the pension plan required for the year ended June 30, 2020.
Total Defined Benefit Pension Expense
The total pension expense for the year ended June 30, 2020, for both defined benefit pension plans
was $657,891.
Defined Contribution Plans
Deferred Compensation Plans
Employees are offered two deferred compensation plans. TRICOR, through the State of
Tennessee, provides two plans, one established pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code (IRC),
Section 457, and the other pursuant to IRC, Section 401(k). The plans are outsourced to thirdparty vendors, and the administrative costs assessed by the vendors of these plans are the
responsibility of plan participants. Section 401(k) and Section 457 plan assets remain the property
of the contributing employees, and they are not presented in the accompanying financial
statements. Sections 401(k) and 457 establish participation, contribution, and withdrawal
provisions for the plans. Participation in the 457 plan is voluntary for employees. TRICOR
provides up to a $50 monthly employer match for employees who participate in the state’s 401(k)
plan. Employees hired before July 1, 2014, voluntarily participate in the state’s 401(k) plan.
Pursuant to Chapter 259 of the Public Acts of 2013, employees hired after June 30, 2014, are
automatically enrolled in the state’s 401(k) plan if they elect to be in the TCRS pension plan.
Employees contribute 2% of their salary, with the employer contributing an additional nonmatching 5%. Employees may opt out of the 2% auto enrollment. Such contribution rates may
only be amended by the Tennessee General Assembly. There are certain automatic cost controls
and unfunded liability controls in the defined benefit plan where the employees participate that
may impact the non-matching 5% employer contribution to the 401(k) plan.
Employees are immediately vested in both the employee and employer contributions in both plans.
The IRC establishes maximum limits that an employee can contribute to these plans. The
employee may increase, decrease, or stop contributions at any time for either plan.
During the year ended June 30, 2020, contributions totaling $160,305 were made by employees
participating in the 401(k) plan, and TRICOR recognized pension expense of $97,488 for employer
contributions.
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Note 9. Other Postemployment Benefits
Closed State Employee Group OPEB Plan
General Information About the OPEB Plan
Plan description – Employees of TRICOR who were hired prior to July 1, 2015, and choose
coverage, are provided with pre-65 retiree health insurance benefits through the Closed State
Employee Group OPEB Plan (EGOP) administered by the Tennessee Department of Finance and
Administration. This plan is considered to be a single-employer defined benefit plan that is used
to provide postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB). This plan is closed to the
employees of all participating employers that were hired on or after July 1, 2015. The employers
participating in this plan include the State of Tennessee (primary government), the Tennessee
Student Assistance Corporation, the Tennessee Housing Development Agency, the University of
Tennessee, and the institutions that make up the State University and Community College System.
The State of Tennessee Postemployment Benefits Trust (OPEB Trust) was established to
accumulate resources to pay for the retiree benefits of EGOP participants. The OPEB Trust
prepares a stand-alone financial report that can be found at www.tn.gov/finance/rddoa/opeb22121.html.
Benefits provided – The EGOP is offered to provide health insurance coverage to eligible retired
and disabled participants and is the only postemployment benefit provided to eligible pre-65
participants. Benefits are established and amended by an insurance committee created by Title 8,
Chapter 27, Section 201, Tennessee Code Annotated. All retirees and disabled employees of the
primary government and certain component units, who are eligible and choose coverage, and who
have not yet reached the age of 65 are enrolled in this plan. All members have the option of
choosing between the premier preferred provider organization (PPO) plan, the standard PPO plan,
or the wellness health savings consumer-driven health plan (CDHP) for healthcare benefits.
Retired plan members receive the same plan benefits as active employees at a blended premium
rate that considers the cost of active and retired employees. This creates an implicit subsidy for
the retirees. The retirees’ cost is then directly subsidized by the employers, based on years of
service. Therefore, retirees with 30 years of service are subsidized 80%; 20 but less than 30 years,
70%; and less than 20 years, 60%.
Contributions – Annually, an insurance committee, created in accordance with Section 8-27-201,
Tennessee Code Annotated, establishes the required contributions to the plan by member
employees through the premiums established to approximate claims cost for the year. Pre-age 65
retired members of the EGOP pay a premium based on a blended rate that considers the cost of
active and retired employees as well as their individual years of service. Therefore, retirees pay
either 20%, 30%, 40%, or 100% of the appropriate premium rate. These payments are deposited
into the OPEB Trust. Once the plan transitioned to the prefunding arrangement through the
qualifying trust, employers began making contributions to the OPEB Trust based on an actuarially
determined contribution (ADC) rate calculated in a manner to meet the funding goals of the state.
The total ADC rate for plan employers for the year ended June 30, 2020, was $145.4 million.
TRICOR’s share of the ADC was $157,322. For the year ended June 30, 2020, TRICOR
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contributed $169,670 to the OPEB Trust. The Tennessee General Assembly has the authority to
change the contribution requirements of the employers participating in the EGOP.
Net OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to OPEB
Proportionate share – TRICOR’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability related
to the EGOP was $593,857. At the June 30, 2019, measurement date, TRICOR’s proportion of
the collective net OPEB liability was 0.062368%. The proportion existing at the prior
measurement date was 0.079960%. This resulted in a change in proportion of (0.017592%)
between the current and prior measurement dates. TRICOR’s proportion of the collective net
OPEB liability was based on a projection of the long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan
relative to the projected share of contributions of all participating employers, actuarially
determined. The collective total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation with a
valuation date of June 30, 2019, and a measurement date of June 30, 2019.
OPEB expense – For the year ended June 30, 2020, TRICOR recognized a negative OPEB expense
of $11,598.
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources – For the year ended June 30,
2020, TRICOR reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to OPEB paid by the EGOP from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources
Differences between expected and actual
experience
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between actual and projected
investment earnings
Changes in proportion and differences
between benefits paid and proportionate
share of benefits paid
Contributions
subsequent
to
the
measurement date
Total

$

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

32,457

$ 37,813
141,853

436

-

-

329,094

169,670
$202,563

$508,760

Deferred outflows of resources, resulting from TRICOR’s employer contributions of $169,670
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a decrease in net OPEB liability in the
year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
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Year Ended June 30
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$(80,705)
(80,705)
(80,705)
(80,705)
(80,811)
(72,236)

In the table above, positive amounts will increase OPEB expense, while negative amounts will
decrease OPEB expense.
Actuarial assumptions – The collective total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to
all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:
Inflation

2.2%

Salary increases

Graded salary ranges from 8.72% to 3.44% based
on age, including inflation, averaging 4%

Healthcare cost trend rates

6.03% for 2020, decreasing annually to an
ultimate rate of 4.5% for 2029 and later years

Retiree’s share of benefit-related costs

Members are required to make monthly
contributions in order to maintain their coverage.
For the purpose of this valuation, a weighted
average has been used with weights derived from
the current distribution of members among plans
offered.

Unless noted otherwise, the actuarial demographic assumptions used in the June 30, 2019,
valuations were the same as those employed in the July 1, 2017, pension actuarial valuation of the
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) for Group I employees. These assumptions
were developed by TCRS based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period July
1, 2012, through June 30, 2016. The demographic assumptions were adjusted to more closely
reflect actual and expected future experience. Mortality tables are used to measure the
probabilities of participants dying before and after retirement. The mortality rates employed in
this valuation are taken from the RP-2014 Healthy Participant Mortality Table for pre-retirement
mortality and the RP-2014 Mortality Table for Annuitants for non-disabled post-retirement
mortality, with mortality improvement projected to all future years using Scale MP-2016. Postretirement tables are Blue Collar and adjusted with a 2% load for males and a -3% load for females.
Mortality rates for impaired lives are the same as those used by TCRS and are taken from a genderdistinct table published in the IRS Ruling 96-7 for disabled lives with a 10% load.
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Long-term expected rate of return – The long-term expected rate of return of 6% on OPEB Trust
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best estimate ranges of
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major class. These ranges are combined to produce the longterm expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Section 8-27-802, Tennessee Code
Annotated, establishes the responsibility of the trustees to adopt written investment policies
authorizing how assets in the OPEB Trust may be invested and reinvested by the State Treasurer.
The treasurer may invest trust assets in any security or investment in which the TCRS is permitted
to invest, provided that investments by the OPEB Trust shall be governed by the investment
policies and guidelines adopted by the trustees. Any changes to the investment policy will be the
responsibility of the established trustees. The OPEB Trust investment policy target asset allocation
and allocation range for each major asset class is summarized in the following table:
Allocation Range
Asset Class
Equities
Fixed income and short-term securities
Real estate
Private equity and strategic lending
Cash and cash equivalents

Minimum
25%
20%
0%
0%
0%

Maximum
80%
50%
20%
20%
25%

Target
Allocation
53%
25%
10%
7%
5%
100%

The best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target
asset allocation as of June 30, 2019, are summarized in the following table:
Long-term Expected
Real Rate of Return
4.75%
5.63%
5.95%
4.60%
0.63%
4.28%

Asset Class
U.S. equity
Developed market international equity
Emerging market international equity
Private equity and strategic lending
U.S. fixed income
Real estate

Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6%. This represents
an increase of 2.38% over the 3.62% used at the prior measurement date. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the single discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made
at rates equal to the ADC rates pursuant to an actuarial valuation in accordance with the state’s
funding goals. Inactive plan members are assumed to contribute their share of the premium rate
for the coverage option in which they are enrolled. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB Trust
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB Trust
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investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB
liability. The change in discount rate used is due to the transition of the EGOP from a pay-as-yougo arrangement to a prefunding arrangement through a qualified trust.
Changes in assumptions – The discount rate was changed from 3.62% as of the beginning of the
measurement period to 6% as of June 30, 2019. This change in assumption decreased the total
OPEB liability. Other minor changes in assumptions were made; however, the impact on the net
OPEB liability was considered to be insignificant.
Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability to changes in the discount
rate – The following presents TRICOR’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability
of the EGOP, as well as what the proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (5%) or 1 percentage
point higher (7%) than the current rate:

TRICOR’s proportionate share of the
collective net OPEB liability

1% Decrease
(5%)

Current
Discount Rate
(6%)

1% Increase
(7%)

$660,133

$593,857

$533,104

Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability to changes in the
healthcare cost trend rate – The following presents TRICOR’s proportionate share of the collective
net OPEB liability of the EGOP, as well as what the proportionate share of the collective net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1 percentage point
lower (5.03% decreasing to 3.5%) or 1 percentage point higher (7.03% decreasing to 5.5%) than
the current rate:

TRICOR’s proportionate share of
the collective net OPEB liability

1% Decrease
(5.03%
decreasing to
3.5%)

Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates (6.03%
decreasing to
4.5%)

1% Increase
(7.03%
decreasing to
5.5%)

$508,170

$593,857

$694,049

Closed Tennessee OPEB Plan
General Information About the OPEB Plan
Plan description – Employees of TRICOR who were hired prior to July 1, 2015, and choose
coverage, are provided with post-65 retiree health insurance benefits through the Closed Tennessee
OPEB Plan (TNP) administered by the Tennessee Department of Finance and Administration.
This plan is considered to be a multiple-employer defined benefit plan that is used to provide
postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB). However, for accounting purposes, this
plan will be treated as a single-employer plan. This plan is closed to the employees of all
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participating employers that were hired on or after July 1, 2015. The State of Tennessee (primary
government), as well as the Tennessee Student Assistance Corporation, the Tennessee Housing
Development Agency, the University of Tennessee, and the other institutions that make up the
State University and Community College System also participate in this plan. This plan also serves
eligible post-65 retirees of employers who participate in the state-administered Teacher Group
Insurance and Local Government Insurance Plans.
Benefits provided – The TNP is offered to help fill most of the coverage gaps created by Medicare
and is the only postemployment benefit provided to eligible post-65 retired and disabled employees
of participating employers. This plan does not include pharmacy. In accordance with Section 827-209, Tennessee Code Annotated, benefits are established and amended by cooperation of
insurance committees created by Sections 8-27-201, 301, and 701, Tennessee Code Annotated.
Retirees and disabled employees of the state, component units, local education agencies, and
certain local governments who have reached the age of 65, are Medicare-eligible, and also receive
a benefit from the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System, may participate in this plan. All
plan members receive the same plan benefits at the same premium rates. Many retirees receive
direct subsidies toward their premium cost; however, participating employers determine their own
policy in this regard. The primary government contributes to the premiums of component unit
retirees based on years of service. Therefore, retirees with 30 years of service receive $50 per
month; 20 but less than 30 years, $37.50; and 15 but less than 20 years, $25. TRICOR is part of
the primary government; therefore, funding for retiree costs is provided by the general fund.
TRICOR does not provide any subsidies for retirees in the TNP. This plan is funded on a pay-asyou-go basis, and there are no assets accumulating in a trust that meets the criteria of paragraph 4
of GASB Statement No. 75.
In accordance with Section 8-27-209, Tennessee Code Annotated, the state insurance committees
established by Sections 8-27-201, 301, and 701, Tennessee Code Annotated, determine the
required payments to the plan by member employers and employees. Claims liabilities of the plan
are periodically computed using actuarial and statistical techniques to establish premium rates.
Administrative costs are allocated to plan participants.
Total OPEB Liability and OPEB Expense
Proportionate share – The primary government is entirely responsible for the TNP OPEB liability
associated with TRICOR’s employees. The primary government’s proportionate share of the total
OPEB liability associated with TRICOR was $226,609. At the June 30, 2019, measurement date,
the proportion of the collective total OPEB liability associated with TRICOR was 0.129457%.
The proportion existing at the prior measurement date was 0.118003%. This resulted in a change
in proportion of 0.011454% between the current and prior measurement dates. The proportion of
the collective total OPEB liability associated with TRICOR was based on a projection of the longterm share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected share of contributions of all
participating employers, actuarially determined. The collective total OPEB liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation with a valuation date of June 30, 2019, and a measurement
date of June 30, 2019.
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Actuarial assumptions – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:
Inflation

2.2%

Salary increases

Graded salary ranges from 8.72% to 3.44% based
on age, including inflation, averaging 4%

Healthcare cost trend rates

The premium subsidies provided to retirees in the
Closed Tennessee OPEB Plan are assumed to
remain unchanged for the entire projection;
therefore, trend rates are not applicable.

Unless noted otherwise, the actuarial demographic assumptions used in the June 30, 2019,
valuations were the same as those employed in the July 1, 2017, pension actuarial valuation of the
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) for Group I employees. These assumptions
were developed by TCRS based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period July
1, 2012, through June 30, 2016. The demographic assumptions were adjusted to more closely
reflect actual and expected future experience. Mortality tables are used to measure the
probabilities of participants dying before and after retirement. The mortality rates employed in
this valuation are taken from the RP-2014 Healthy Participant Mortality Table for pre-retirement
mortality and the RP-2014 Mortality Table for Annuitants for non-disabled post-retirement
mortality, with mortality improvement projected to all future years using Scale MP-2016. Postretirement tables are Blue Collar and adjusted with a 2% load for males and a -3% load for females.
Mortality rates for impaired lives are the same as those used by TCRS and are taken from a genderdistinct table published in IRS Ruling 96-7 for disabled lives with a 10% load.
Discount rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.51%. This rate
reflects the interest rate derived from yields on 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal
bonds, prevailing on the measurement date, with an average rating of AA/Aa as shown on the
Bond Buyer GO 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index.
Changes in assumptions – The discount rate was changed from 3.62% as of the beginning of the
measurement period to 3.51% as of June 30, 2019. This change in assumption increased the total
OPEB liability.
Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the collective total OPEB liability to changes in the
discount rate – The following presents the primary government’s proportionate share of TRICOR’s
related collective total OPEB liability, as well as what the proportionate share of the collective
total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point
lower (2.51%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.51%) than the current rate. TRICOR does not report
a proportionate share of the OPEB liability for employees in the TNP.
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Primary government’s proportionate share
of the collective total OPEB liability

1% Decrease
(2.51%)

Current
Discount Rate
(3.51%)

1% Increase
(4.51%)

$254,967

$226,609

$202,898

OPEB expense – For the year ended June 30, 2020, the primary government recognized OPEB
expense of $7,431 for employees of TRICOR participating in the TNP.
Total OPEB Expense
The total negative OPEB expense for the year ended June 30, 2020, was $4,167, which consisted
of negative OPEB expense of $11,598 for the EGOP and $7,431 paid by the primary government
for the TNP.

Note 10. Insurance-related Activities
Risk Management Fund
It is the policy of the state not to purchase commercial insurance for the risks associated with
casualty losses for general liability, automobile liability, medical malpractice liability, and
workers’ compensation. By statute, the maximum liability for general liability, automobile
liability, and medical malpractice liability is $300,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.
The state’s management believes it is more economical to manage these risks internally and set
aside assets for claim settlement in its internal service fund, the Risk Management Fund (RMF).
The state purchases commercial insurance for real property, crime and fidelity coverage on the
state's officials and employees, and cyber liability coverage. For property coverage, the deductible
for an individual state agency is the first $25,000 of losses. The RMF is responsible for property
losses for the annual aggregate deductible of $7.5 million for perils other than earthquakes and
floods. Purchased insurance coverage is responsible for losses exceeding the $7.5 million annual
aggregate deductible. For earthquakes and floods, there is a deductible of $10 million per
occurrence. The maximum insurance coverage is $750 million per year for perils other than
earthquakes and floods. The maximum flood insurance coverage is $50 million per occurrence,
except there is only $25 million of coverage in flood zones A and V. The maximum earthquake
insurance coverage is $50 million per occurrence. The amounts of settlements have not exceeded
insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years.
TRICOR participates in the RMF. The fund allocates the cost of providing claims servicing and
claims payment by charging a premium to TRICOR based on a percentage of the agency’s
expected loss costs, which include both experience and exposures. This charge considers recent
trends in actual claims experience of the state as a whole. Information regarding the determination
of the claims liabilities and the changes in the balances of the claims liabilities for the year ended
June 30, 2020, is presented in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. That report
is available on the state’s website at www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-ar.html. At June 30,
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2020, the RMF held $231 million in cash designated for payment of claims. At June 30, 2020, the
scheduled coverage for TRICOR was $1,100,000 for buildings and $15,408,514 for furniture and
equipment.
The state has also set aside assets in the Employee Group Insurance Fund, an internal service fund,
to provide a program of health insurance coverage for the employees of the state with the risk
retained by the state. The agency participates in the Employee Group Insurance Fund. The fund
allocates the cost of providing claims servicing and claims payment by charging a premium to the
agency based on estimates of the ultimate cost of claims, including the cost of claims that have
been reported but not settled and of claims that have been incurred but not reported. Employees
and providers have 13 months to file medical claims.

Note 11. Impairments and Insurance Recoveries
On March 3, 2020, a tornado struck the Bakerwest warehouse building complex located at 7363
Cockrill Bend Boulevard, Nashville, TN 37209. The building was completely leveled, which
damaged or destroyed most of the operating equipment and inventory of TRICOR’s license plate
tag plant, logistics center, and industrial chemicals operation. As a result, TRICOR incurred
impairment losses of $2,956,291 with insurance recoveries of $991,310 and anticipated insurance
recoveries of $1,980,356 (see Note 3) This resulted in a gain due to insurance recoveries of
$15,375.

Note 12. Prior Period Adjustment
During the current year, it was determined that costs associated with growing and harvesting crops
for the intent of sale were erroneously omitted from inventory, resulting in an understatement of
inventory on the statement of net position at June 30, 2019. As a result, a prior period adjustment
was recorded to add the value of crops, increasing inventories and decreasing supplies expenses
by $298,455, which increased unrestricted net position by the same amount at June 30, 2019.
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TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan Within TCRS

2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015

TRICOR’s
Proportion of
the Net
Pension
Liability

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Net Pension
Liability

0.153947%
0.169294%
0.170890%
0.177727%
0.201057%
0.219906%

$2,173,984
2,734,801
3,058,250
3,242,747
2,592,196
1,517,238

TRICOR’s
Covered
Payroll
$3,473,026
3,917,590
4,099,725
4,339,254
5,250,051
5,938,855

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Net Pension
Liability as a
Percentage of
Its Covered
Payroll
62.60%
69.81%
74.60%
74.73%
49.37%
25.55%

Plan
Fiduciary Net
Position as a
Percentage of
the Total
Pension
Liability
91.67%
90.26%
88.88%
87.96%
91.26%
95.11%

1) To correspond with the measurement date, the amounts presented were determined as of June
30 of the prior fiscal year.
2) This is a 10-year schedule; however, the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future years until 10 years of
information is available.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Asset
State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan Within TCRS

2020
2019
2018
2017
2016

TRICOR’s
Proportion of
the Net
Pension
Asset

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Net Pension
Asset

TRICOR’s
Covered
Payroll

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Net Pension
Asset as a
Percentage of
Its Covered
Payroll

0.113428%
0.043659%
0.038003%
0.188156%
0.301709%

$47,047
16,840
7,881
15,851
8,390

$1,064,022
970,056
687,166
756,567
328,549

4.42%
1.74%
1.15%
2.10%
2.55%

Plan
Fiduciary Net
Position as a
Percentage of
the Total
Pension
Liability
122.36%
132.39%
131.51%
130.56%
142.55%

1) To correspond with the measurement date, the amounts presented were determined as of June
30 of the prior fiscal year.
2) This is a 10-year schedule; however, the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future years until 10 years of
information is available.
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TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Contributions
Closed State and Higher Education Employee Pension Plan Within TCRS

Contractually
Determined
Contributions
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015

$675,194
667,485
739,250
615,780
652,190
789,083

Contributions
in Relation to
Contractually
Determined
Contributions

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

$675,194
667,485
739,250
615,780
652,190
789,083

$

-

Covered
Payroll

Contributions
as a
Percentage of
Covered
Payroll

$3,434,356
3,473,026
3,917,590
4,099,725
4,339,254
5,250,051

19.66%
19.22%
18.87%
15.02%
15.03%
15.03%

Notes to Schedule:
Changes of assumptions: In 2017, the following assumptions were changed: decreased inflation
rate from 3% to 2.5%; decreased the investment rate of return from 7.5% to 7.25%; decreased the
cost-of-living adjustment from 2.5% to 2.25%; decreased salary growth graded ranges from an
average of 4.25% to an average of 4%; and modified mortality assumptions.
To correspond with the reporting date, the amount presented were determined as of June 30 of the
stated fiscal year.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Contributions
State and Higher Education Employee Retirement Plan Within TCRS

Contractually
Determined
Contributions
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015

$22,513
17,663
12,514
7,771
22,435
12,715

Contributions
in Relation to
Contractually
Determined
Contributions

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

$22,513
17,663
12,514
7,771
22,435
12,715

$

-

Covered
Payroll

Contributions
as a
Percentage of
Covered
Payroll

$1,301,322
1,064,022
970,056
687,166
756,567
328,549

1.73%
1.66%
1.29%
1.13%
2.97%
3.87%

Notes to Schedule:
Changes of assumptions: In 2017, the following assumptions were changed: decreased inflation
rate from 3% to 2.5%; decreased the investment rate of return from 7.5% to 7.25%; decreased the
cost-of-living adjustment from 2.5% to 2.25%; decreased salary growth graded ranges from an
average of 4.25% to an average of 4%; and modified mortality assumptions.
1) This is a 10-year schedule; however, contributions to this plan began in 2015. Years will be
added to this schedule in future years until 10 years of information is available.
2) To correspond with the reporting date, the amount presented were determined as of June 30 of
the stated fiscal year.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Proportionate Share of the
Collective Total/Net OPEB Liability
Closed State Employee Group OPEB Plan

2020
2019
2018

TRICOR’s
Proportion of
the Collective
Total/Net
OPEB
Liability

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Collective
Total/Net
OPEB
Liability

0.062368%
0.079960%
0.103607%

$ 593,857
1,107,639
1,390,967

TRICOR’s
CoveredEmployee
Payroll
$3,301,831
3,342,364
3,231,716

TRICOR’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Collective
Total/Net
OPEB
Liability as a
Percentage of
Its CoveredEmployee
Payroll

OPEB Plan
Fiduciary Net
Position as a
Percentage of
the Total
OPEB
Liability

17.99%
33.14%
43.04%

18.33%
N/A
N/A

1) This is a 10-year schedule; however, the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future fiscal years until 10
years of information is available.
2) The amounts reported for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.
3) During the year ended June 30, 2019, this plan transitioned from a pay-as-you-go plan to a
prefunding arrangement through a qualifying trust.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Proportionate Share of the
Collective Total OPEB Liability
Closed Tennessee OPEB Plan

Primary
TRICOR’s
TRICOR’s Government’s
Total
Proportion Proportionate Proportionate
OPEB
of the
Share of the
Share of the
Liability
Collective
Collective
Collective
Associated
Total OPEB Total OPEB
With
Total OPEB
Liability
Liability
Liability
TRICOR
2020
2019
2018

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

$

-

$226,609
203,984
229,485

$226,609
203,984
229,485

TRICOR’s
CoveredEmployee
Payroll

Primary
Government’s
Proportionate
Share of the
Collective
Total OPEB
Liability as a
Percentage of
Its CoveredEmployee
Payroll

$3,502,707
3,545,465
3,346,797

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

1) There are no assets accumulating in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB
Statement No. 75 related to this OPEB plan.
2) This is a 10-year schedule; however, the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future fiscal years until 10
years of information is available.
3) The amounts reported for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of TRICOR’s Contributions
Closed State Employee Group OPEB Plan

2020
2019

Actuarially
Determined
Contributions

Contributions
in Relation to
Actuarially
Determined
Contributions

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

CoveredEmployee
Payroll

Contributions
as a Percentage
of CoveredEmployee
Payroll

$157,322
138,096

$169,670
322,643

$ (12,348)
(184,547)

$3,214,588
3,301,831

5.28%
9.77%

1) This is a 10-year schedule; however, the information in this schedule is not required to be
presented retroactively. Years will be added to this schedule in future years until 10 years of
information is available.
2) Actuarially determined contribution rates are determined based on valuations as of June 30
two years prior to the fiscal year-end in which the contributions are reported.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor
Members of the General Assembly
Board of Directors, Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction
We have audited the financial statements of the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction, an
internal service fund of the State of Tennessee, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the fund’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 23, 2021. We issued a qualified
opinion on such financial statements, because management was unable to provide sufficient,
appropriate audit evidence for observing year-end inventory, and we were unable to satisfy ourselves
by other auditing procedures concerning inventory held at June 30, 2020, and cost of sales and other
related amounts for the year then ended. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TRICOR’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TRICOR’s internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of TRICOR’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies
may exist that were not identified. However, as described below, we identified certain deficiencies
in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiencies to be material weaknesses:
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 As noted in the prior audit, management needs to improve its procedures for preparing
and reviewing financial statements to prevent errors.
 Management did not properly account for inventories.
 Management did not maintain accurate or complete capital asset supporting
documentation.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is
less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance. We consider the following deficiency to be a significant deficiency:


Management did not follow policies and procedures in one specific area.

These deficiencies are described in the Findings and Recommendations section of this report.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether TRICOR’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, and contracts, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such
an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
TRICOR’s Responses to Findings
The agency’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are included in the Findings and
Recommendations section of this report. The agency’s responses were not subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express
no opinion on them.
Purpose of This Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Katherine J. Stickel, CPA, CGFM, Director
Division of State Audit
September 23, 2021
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Findings and Recommendations
1. As noted in the prior audit, management needs to improve its procedures for preparing
and reviewing financial statements to prevent errors
As noted in the prior audit, Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction’s (TRICOR)
management did not have adequate procedures for preparing and reviewing its financial statements
to ensure the accuracy and proper classification of information.
Since we initially reported this finding, management hired a cost accountant in February 2020 to
provide support with the Business Analyst’s workload, attended meetings with us to better
understand prior-year errors, created a mapping tool to assist in preparing the financial statements
from X3 (TRICOR Information Management System), and developed procedures and work
instructions to ensure continuity. Even with the added procedures, management continued to make
the following reporting errors:


Management incorrectly reported labor and manufacturing overhead expenses directly
related to the cost of sales and the manufacturing of goods in other expense categories.
As a result, management understated cost of sales by $391,136; overstated salaries,
wages, and benefits expense by $250,852; overstated freight and communications
expense by $380; overstated maintenance and repairs expense by $12,652; overstated
professional services expense by $15,179; overstated rentals and insurance expense by
$16,270; overstated supplies expense by $80,983; overstated travel expense by $2,694;
overstated utilities expense by $10,505; and overstated other expenses by $1,621.



Management misclassified cattle in the developing herd as construction in progress.
As a result, management understated inventory by $248,353; understated immature
breeding herd by $183,442; and overstated construction in progress by $431,795 (see
finding 3).



Management incorrectly reported a gain for costs associated with cattle in addition to
reporting the costs in the various expense accounts. To move those costs into the
appropriate inventory or capital asset account, management should have reduced the
original expenses, but instead reported it as a gain and left the costs in the original
expense accounts, therefore doubling the costs. As a result, management overstated
salaries, wages, and benefits expense by $244,389; overstated professional services
expense by $5,016; overstated supplies expense by $114,013; overstated cost of sales
by $39,821; overstated depreciation expense by $76,296; overstated other expenses by
$3,156; and overstated gains/losses by $482,691. After auditors proposed adjustments
to the gains/losses line to remove incorrect amounts, it changed this line to loss on
disposal of capital assets.



Management incorrectly included costs associated with growing and harvesting crops
in various expense accounts rather than including these costs in inventory at June 30,
2020, and June 30, 2019, and cost of sales for the years then ended. As a result,
management understated inventory by $298,455 at June 30, 2019. TRICOR sold these
inventory items during the year ended June 30, 2020, resulting in an adjustment to the
year ended June 30, 2020, for the increase in cost of sales and a reduction to inventory.
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Furthermore, management understated inventory by $354,166 at June 30, 2020;
understated cost of sales by $95,960; and overstated supplies expense by $450,126 for
the year ended June 30, 2020 (see finding 2).


Management incorrectly reported $138,620 as adjustment to retained earnings on the
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the year ended June
30, 2020. We determined the amounts making up this incorrect line item and proposed
adjustments to the correct lines of the financial statements as noted below.
o Management incorrectly recorded an off-book entry for changes in pensions,
other postemployment benefits, and compensated absences balances.
Specifically, management reported the corresponding expenses as adjustment
to retained earnings rather than correctly crediting salaries, wages, and benefits
expense. As a result, management overstated salaries, wages, and benefits
expense and adjustment to retained earnings by $206,275.
o Management incorrectly reported furniture and equipment as $1,604,653 rather
than $1,540,964. Management erroneously accounted for these differences in
adjustment to retained earnings. In addition, these errors caused depreciation
to be incorrectly calculated. As a result, management overstated furniture and
equipment by $63,689; understated depreciation expense by $3,894; and
overstated adjustment to retained earnings by $59,795 (see finding 3).
o Management did not verify that the depreciation expense recorded in the
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position agreed to the
additions to accumulated depreciation in the capital asset note (Note 4) to the
financial statements. To ensure the financial statements balanced, management
incorrectly reported capital asset differences to adjustment to retained earnings.
As a result, management understated depreciation expense by $148,198 and
understated adjustment to retained earnings by $148,198 (see finding 3).
o Management excluded $20,485 of impaired inventory and incorrectly included
a $28,257 capital asset when determining the impairment loss due to the tornado
on March 3, 2020. Net gains from insurance recoveries should be reported as
an operating revenue. As a result, management understated sales revenue by
$7,772 and overstated adjustment to retained earnings by $7,772.
o Management could not determine the remaining $12,976 in adjustment to
retained earnings; however, as the amount appears to be related to adjustments
to capital assets, the amount was reclassified to miscellaneous revenues.



We noted the following errors in the capital assets note (Note 4) to the financial
statements (see finding 3):
o Management reported a mathematical error, resulting in a $60,001
overstatement of net capital assets.
o Management incorrectly reported additions for the mature breeding herd as
$310,976 rather than $351,700; furniture and equipment as $1,566,357 rather
than $1,709,859; and construction in progress as $490,527 rather than $58,732.

42

o Management incorrectly reported immature breeding herd additions of
$183,442 as part of construction in progress additions.
o Management incorrectly reported reductions for the mature breeding herd as $0
rather than $40,724, and furniture and equipment as $3,637,878 rather than
$4,269,621.
o Management incorrectly reported accumulated depreciation additions for
furniture and equipment as $314,266 rather than $390,627.
o Management incorrectly reported accumulated depreciation reductions for
furniture and equipment as $2,198,912 rather than $2,699,826.


Management incorrectly reported payables to suppliers and vendors as $1,666,343
rather than $1,582,210 in the accounts payable and accruals note (Note 6) to the
financial statements. The $83,133 difference should have been reported as payables to
other state agencies. As such, management also incorrectly reported payables to other
state agencies as $16,060 rather than $100,015.



We noted the following errors in the pension plans note (Note 8) to the financial
statements:
o Management incorrectly reported the legacy (Closed State and Higher
Education Employee) pension plan payable as $0 rather than $25,845.
o Management incorrectly reported the hybrid (State and Higher Education
Employee) pension plan payable as $0 rather than $1,016.
o Management omitted $160,305 of employee contributions to the deferred
compensation 401(k) plan.
o Management incorrectly included a note disclosure related to postemployment
benefits other than pensions (OPEB) in the pension note, rather than including
the note in the summary of significant accounting policies note (Note 1).

All misstatements were corrected in the audited financial statements.
Criteria
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the entity’s financial
statements and accompanying notes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. This includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal controls relevant to the recording of financial transactions and the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement.
Section 9-18-102, Tennessee Code Annotated, states:
(a) Each agency of state government and institution of higher education . . . shall
establish and maintain internal controls, which shall provide reasonable
assurance that:
(1) Obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;
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(2) Funds, property, and other assets are safeguarded against waste, loss,
unauthorized use, or misappropriation; and
(3) Revenues and expenditures are properly recorded and accounted for to
permit the preparation of accurate and reliable financial and statistical
reports and to maintain accountability over the assets.
Cause
Although management made several changes to correct errors in the prior audit finding,
management did not follow their financial statement preparation process or make all of the prior
audit finding recommendations to ensure the financial statements and accompanying notes were
in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles, were mathematically accurate, and
agreed to the underlying accounting records. The Chief Financial Officer did not ensure that the
Business Analyst who prepared the financial statements received adequate training and had
adequate knowledge of governmental accounting and reporting requirements to properly perform
his responsibilities. The Chief Financial Officer also did not perform a thorough review of the
completed financial statements and notes to ensure their accuracy. Contrary to our
recommendation in the prior audit finding, TRICOR management determined that the Department
of Finance and Administration’s Controller stationed at TRICOR (F&A Controller) should not
enter accounting entries for pensions, OPEB, and compensated absences into TRICOR’s
accounting and information systems to aid in accurate reporting.
Effect
When management and staff do not take adequate care when preparing financial statements and
the accompanying notes to the financial statements, the risk of material misstatement in the
financial statements increases. Providing inaccurate financial information can negatively impact
the decision-making ability of users of the financial statements.
Recommendation
As noted in the prior audit, management should follow established financial statement preparation
and review procedures to ensure the financial statements and accompanying notes are in
compliance with generally accepted accounting principles, are mathematically accurate, and agree
to the underlying accounting records. The Chief Financial Officer should ensure that staff who
prepare the financial statements receive adequate training and have adequate knowledge of
governmental accounting and reporting standards to properly perform their responsibilities. The
Chief Financial Officer should also perform a thorough review of the completed financial
statements and notes to ensure their accuracy. The F&A Controller should enter all accounting
entries into TRICOR’s accounting and information system to aid in accurate reporting.
Management’s Comment
We concur. Fiscal year 2020 (FY) financial statements have been corrected. Steps have been
completed to address the late completion of FY 2020 financials, which ultimately resulted in
submittal of the audit package before the TRICOR general ledger was finalized. Resolution of
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certain aged capital asset reconciling items, which drove significant delays in finalizing the FY
2020 general ledger, was completed as of June 30, 2021, which will enable the general ledger to
be closed much earlier for FY 2021.
To prevent reoccurrence of classification issues identified, the model used to create the audit
package requires updating to incorporate further preventive controls.
Management will review established financial statement preparation and review procedures, and
make updates where necessary, by November 15, 2021. Those steps will include:


Thorough review of the details of the finding, with assistance from the Comptroller’s
audit team.



Review the applicable governmental accounting regulations or standards and adjust
TRICOR’s templates to properly reflect financial balances, with specific emphasis on
new business activities engaged in for the first time, significant or unusual infrequent
events (i.e., tornado), and on proper accounting treatment for agricultural products
(establish WIP [work in progress] inventory value for crops in the field).



Establish accountability for the accuracy of pension and other postemployment benefits
by requiring signed assurance of accuracy and completeness by the specialist who
submitted the information to TRICOR. The CFO will set up a meeting with F&A to
review the FY 2021 submission to ensure notes and schedules match. The F&A
controller will record all entries in Sage X3.



Schedule time to be dedicated to refresher training of the TRICOR fiscal staff, with
record of completion reported. Training topics to be developed under advisement by
the audit team.



Review and approval of the financials by the fiscal team, CFO, and finally by the
TRICOR senior management team, before submission to the Comptroller’s Office.



Finally, a revised timeline to ensure accountability for carrying out corrective actions.

2. Management did not properly account for inventories
Condition
TRICOR management did not properly account for inventories, increasing the risk of errors being
recorded and not discovered.
Criteria
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the entity’s financial
statements and accompanying notes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. This includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal controls relevant to the recording of financial transactions and the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement.
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board Codification 1600.127a states that “significant
amounts of inventory should be reported in the balance sheet.”
TRICOR’s policy 309, “Inventory Management and Accountability,” section VI, states the
following:
A. Site managers or other designated individuals at each work site shall be
responsible for receipt, storage, issuance and inventory of all raw materials and
operational supplies used to manufacture products. B. Physical inventory cycle
counts will be completed at least monthly by teams of two (2) TRICOR staff
members. . . . F. All cycle count discrepancies are to be reviewed and the actual
physical count register posted in TIMS [TRICOR Information Management
System, Sage X3] by staff with a higher level of authority than the individuals
performing the inventory. G. Any required inventory adjustments are to be
properly explained, justified, documented and submitted to the Chief Financial
Officer or designee for review, approval and register posting in TIMS.
Cause and Effect
We noted the following errors related to inventories:


We were unable to observe physical year-end inventory at June 30, 2020, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and concerns in the state prison system. As a result,
we met with management and requested specific supporting video and documentary
evidence of year-end inventory performance. However, management was not able to
provide sufficient, appropriate evidence for the physical year-end inventory counts. As
a result, we were unable to perform alternative audit procedures to obtain sufficient,
appropriate audit evidence regarding the existence and condition for $1,946,010 of
inventory held at June 30, 2020, and for cost of sales and other related amounts for the
year then ended.



Management did not include costs associated with growing and harvesting crops in
inventory and cost of sales, but instead included the costs in various expense accounts.
Management was unaware of the proper accounting policies for agricultural producers
(see finding 1).



Management incorrectly expensed printer ink used in the production of license plates
rather than reporting it as inventory. Furthermore, management was not able to provide
sufficient, appropriate evidence to determine the year-end ink inventory balance at June
30, 2020, or cost of sales and other related amounts for the year then ended.
Management determined that the amount of printer ink used in the production of license
plates was not easily measurable and therefore expensed the printer ink rather than
including it as inventory. Based on our review of ink purchases of $163,320 during the
year, we determined that ink should have been included in inventory as raw materials;
however, we were unable to propose an adjustment since the amount used in production
was not tracked.
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We selected 15 of 1,580 inventory items impaired during the March 3, 2020, tornado
from the TRICOR Logistics Center (TLC), the TRICOR license tag plant, and the
industrial cleaning product (ICP) operation to test the accuracy of the amount submitted
to Risk Management for those impaired inventory items. For 2 of the 15 items tested
(13.33%), the unit cost on the purchase order or work order prior to the tornado did not
match the unit cost on the impaired inventory listing. As a result, TRICOR
management understated their impairment loss by $1,130 upon submitting it to Risk
Management for insurance recovery purposes. Management did not have a review
process in place to ensure the appropriate purchase order or work order was used to
calculate the impairment loss for insurance and financial statement purposes.



Because personnel did not follow established policies and procedures or no policies
and procedures were available, we noted the following issues:
o Management did not record numerous inventory transactions to the related cost
center in the general ledger. As a result, inventory balances by cost center in the
general ledger were not reflective of actual inventory balances at June 30, 2020.
Variances between physical count sheets and amounts reported in the general ledger
by cost center ranged from ($509,379) to $464,469, although the total inventory
amounts in the general ledger accounts agreed to total physical counts, after
considering reconciling items. Policies and procedures were not established to
ensure proper recording to the appropriate cost centers. Not recording inventory
adjustments to corresponding cost centers increases the risk that proper counts are
not maintained at operating locations, misappropriation of those items, and
misstatements in the financial statements.
o TRICOR management did not update X3 in a timely manner upon receiving or
manufacturing inventory items. Management recovered 499 inventory items from
the TRICOR license tag plant after the tornado on March 3, 2020, that were not
included in the stock valuation report prior to the tornado. The lag time between
receiving or manufacturing the inventory items and updating the system ranged
from 3 days to 143 days.
o Cycle counts at TLC, the license tag plant, and the ICP operations were not
performed monthly as required by TRICOR policies. The ICP operation did not
perform cycle counts for two months of the year, and TLC and the license tag plant
did not perform cycle counts for one month. Management stated that cycle counts
were missed due to production-related timing constraints.

Recommendation
The Chief Financial Officer should ensure that staff who prepare the financial statements receive
adequate training and have adequate knowledge of governmental accounting and reporting
requirements to properly perform their responsibilities. Management should also ensure that items
received and produced are entered in the system when received or produced. The Chief Financial
Officer should ensure that each operating location performs monthly cycle counts. In addition, the
Chief Financial Officer should ensure all adjustments to inventory are to corresponding cost centers
by comparing all physical inventory counts to supporting documentation, and should approve any
related adjustments before posting to the system, as required by TRICOR’s written policy.
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Management’s Comment
We concur. Regarding observation of physical inventory, with travel restrictions in place at June
30, 2020, it was not possible for auditors to visit every inventory site. Since offenders could not
be shown actually counting every part, video of the count was not considered a viable alternative
technique. Easing of pandemic related lockdowns made it possible for on-site observation by the
audit team of the FY 2021 year-end physical count.
Management will address the video restrictions in the future by obtaining signed releases to be on
camera from a sufficient number of offenders to be able to video record the annual physical count.
To be completed by November 26, 2021.
The following steps will be planned for on an annual basis to validate each year’s accounting
treatment and reporting requirements:


Review the applicable governmental accounting regulations or standards and adjust
TRICOR’s procedures to properly reflect inventory balances, with specific emphasis on
new business activities engaged in for the first time, significant or unusual infrequent
events (i.e., tornado), and on proper accounting treatment for agricultural producers (e.g.,
establish WIP inventory value for crops in the field). Complete by October 31, 2021.



Refresher training to be provided for all inventory locations to focus on receiving
practices, specifically timing and quantity accuracy. To be completed by March 31, 2022.

The following corrections have been completed in FY 2021:


Changed classification of license tag printer ink to inventory effective in FY 2021.



Errors in the calculations of product cost in the Sage X3 Stock Valuation Report were
corrected in FY 2021, resulting in the cost of items on hand being reflective of the latest
purchase orders.



Corrected the Sage X3 implementation error where inventory items were initially
imported with no cost center in FY 2021. All inventory transactions are now associated
with their correct cost center in the general ledger.



The Cost Accountant initiated monitoring monthly compliance for required cycle counts.

3. Management did not maintain accurate or complete capital asset supporting
documentation
Condition
The TRICOR Business Analyst, who also acts as TRICOR’s Property Officer, and the Department
of Finance and Administration’s Controller stationed at TRICOR (F&A Controller) did not
maintain accurate capital asset supporting documentation, increasing the risk of capital asset
misappropriation and the risk of errors being recorded in the general ledger and the financial
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statements. In addition, TRICOR’s Property Officer did not maintain accurate and complete
capital asset records, including asset identification, location details, and disposal information.
Criteria
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the entity’s financial
statements and accompanying notes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. This includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal controls relevant to the recording of financial transactions and the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement.
The Centralized Accounting Departmental Agreement between F&A and TRICOR states,
“Beginning on July 1, 2016, the Division of Accounts within F&A will manage and operate the
financial accounting and reporting functions of TRICOR. For the purposes of this agreement,
‘financial accounting and reporting functions’ include, but are not limited to . . . performing
reconciliations.” Furthermore, it states, “Financial accounting functions will be performed so that:
1) TRICOR management can use its financial reports for decision making.”
TRICOR Property Management Standard Operating Procedure 330-1 states:
(4) TRICOR Property Officer: Responsible for maintaining accurate equipment
inventory records for all TRICOR work sites, ensuring they are reconciled with
official records maintained by the Department of Finance and Administration
(F&A), Division of Accounts, Asset Management . . .
(5.2, 2.a) Major assets shall be affixed with State of Tennessee identification
numbers and entered into the Edison asset management system. Identification
numbers shall be placed on these items within 10 working days of receipt. The
TRICOR Property Officer will be responsible for submitting identification
information to F&A for the purpose of updating the Edison asset management
system for these items.
(5.2, 4.a) When equipment is permanently transferred from one TRICOR work site
to another . . . the property officer will be responsible for revising the physical
location in the Edison asset management system.
TRICOR Surplus Property Standard Operating Procedure 330-2, 5.2, 3.b., states, “The TRICOR
property officer is responsible for maintenance of accountability and insuring that an audit trail is
available to show the disposition of all items reported.”
Cause
The F&A Controller and staff at TRICOR maintain numerous capital asset supporting documents
(i.e., reconciliations to the general ledger and Edison asset management system). The F&A
Controller made these documents available to the Chief Financial Officer and Business Analyst
during the year-end closing process. The Chief Financial Officer and Business Analyst used these
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documents to prepare the financial statements. None of the documents on a stand-alone basis
included all the information required to prepare the financial statements. For example, one capital
asset document contained amounts that did not agree to TRICOR’s general ledger and contained
incomplete or missing information for the immature breeding herd assets; construction in progress
assets; additions and reductions to accumulated depreciation for all assets; in-service dates; useful
lives; and disposal dates. As a result, TRICOR management used information from a combination
of these documents to prepare the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements.
The use of multiple documents, some of which were prepared prior to the recording of final
adjustments and included errors that were not caught through an F&A review process, led to
confusion and incorrect reporting.
In addition, the TRICOR Property Officer (i.e., the Business Analyst) did not follow the policies
and procedures in place regarding equipment identification and capital asset disposals.
Effect
In using the two capital asset listings and the depreciation listing mentioned above, management
made the following errors:


Management incorrectly classified immature cattle as construction in progress, rather
than classifying the cattle held for sale as inventory and the cattle held for breeding as
an immature breading herd (a non-depreciable capital asset). As a result, inventory was
understated by $248,353, the immature breeding herd was understated by $183,442,
and construction in progress was overstated by $431,795 (see finding 1).



Management incorrectly reported furniture and equipment as $1,604,653 rather than
$1,540,964. These errors also caused an error in depreciation expense (see finding 1).



Management did not verify that depreciation expense recorded in the statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position agreed to the additions to accumulated
depreciation in the capital asset note (Note 4) to the financial statements; (see finding 1).



We noted numerous errors in the capital asset note (Note 4) to the financial statements;
(see finding 1).

The TRICOR Business Analyst did not follow the policies and procedures in place regarding
equipment identification and capital asset disposals. As a result, we noted the following errors:


We selected 48 equipment items from the capital asset supporting documents to verify
the accuracy and existence of TRICOR equipment. For 6 of the 48 items tested
(12.5%), we were unable to verify all identifying information in the capital asset
supporting documents or in the Edison asset management system to the equipment
items. The following errors were noted:
o For 2 of 48 equipment items tested (4.2%), the serial number on the equipment item
did not match the serial number as detailed in the Edison asset management system.
o For 1 of 48 equipment items tested (2.1%), the equipment item did not have a
physical state identification tag affixed to it, and the equipment item did not have a
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physical serial number affixed to it although a serial number was detailed in the
Edison asset management system.
o For 1 of 48 equipment items tested (2.1%), the equipment item did not have a
physical state identification tag affixed to it, and the serial number on the equipment
item did not match the serial number as detailed in the Edison asset management
system.
o For 1 of 48 equipment items tested (2.1%), the equipment item was not located at
the TRICOR work site as detailed in the capital assets supporting documents but
rather at a different TRICOR work site across the state.
o For 1 of 48 equipment items tested (2.1%), the equipment item did not have a
physical serial number affixed to it although a serial number was detailed in the
Edison asset management system.


While performing capital assets testwork above, we discovered that an additional
equipment item was transferred to another location during the year ended June 30,
2020, after the original location closed; however, the capital asset supporting
documents were not updated to reflect this transfer.



Management was unable to provide disposal dates or supporting documentation for
four capital assets disposed during fiscal year 2020 that were not related to those
impaired by the March 2, 2020, tornado.

Recommendation
The F&A Controller and staff at TRICOR should maintain one reconciliation for capital assets to
reduce potential errors and confusion. Furthermore, the F&A Controller should properly review
capital asset supporting documents prepared by F&A staff to ensure the accuracy and reliability of
the information prior to providing the information to TRICOR management for financial reporting
purposes.
The TRICOR Property Officer should follow established policies and procedures for proper capital
asset management, and properly maintain an audit trail for capital asset disposals.
TRICOR’s Management’s Comment
We concur. The root cause of capital asset reporting issues was identified to be asset reporting
discrepancies between TRICOR’s internal capital asset records compared to the Edison Capital
Asset system, that existed for a number of years prior to FY 2020. The resolution of these
reconciling items was completed in September for the June 30, 2021, reporting period. In order to
prevent future reoccurrence of discrepancies, the following improvements will be implemented.
The responses below are presented for each stakeholder with responsibility for part of the capital
asset reporting function.


Improve coordination between remote sites; the Property Officer and the F&A
Controller to reduce/eliminate the root causes of reconciling items primarily through
regular periodic communication with site management regarding errors found in capital
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asset procurement or retirement documentation; to drive improvement and accuracy
regarding capital asset custody.


Management will review established capital asset management procedures and make
updates where necessary to support capital asset tracking and timely reporting of
changes to the capital asset group.



Revise the schedule for annual capital asset cycle count by site to begin earlier in the
year, to validate capital asset confirmation of existence, serial number, and tag number.



Establish a process to review purchase orders promptly to validate trade-in/disposal
details. Review monthly changes in the beef breeding herd population where assets can
come and go quickly in response to the business environment. To be completed by
October 22, 2021.

F&A’s Management’s Comment
We concur. The F&A Controller will seek input from TRICOR management on ways to improve,
simplify and supplement the existing capital asset supporting documentation, and implement
additional internal review procedures to reduce the risk of errors in preparation.
A set of complete capital asset working papers, prepared in a manner intended to facilitate
TRICOR management’s reporting of capital assets in its financial statements (and supporting
notes) will be provided to TRICOR management within ten business days following the recording
of the final capital asset related adjustments for the fiscal year.
4. Management did not follow policies and procedures in one specific area
Condition, Criteria, Cause, and Effect
TRICOR management did not follow policies and procedures in one specific area. We found an
internal control deficiency that violated TRICOR policies or industry-accepted best practices.
Noncompliance in this area increases the likelihood of errors, data loss, and inability to continue
operations. Pursuant to Standard 4.40 of the U.S. Government Accountability Office’s
Government Auditing Standards, we omitted details from this finding because they are confidential
under the provisions of Section 10-7-504(i), Tennessee Code Annotated. We provided the
department with detailed information regarding the specific condition we identified, as well as the
related criteria, causes, effects, and our specific recommendations for improvement.
Recommendation
Management should ensure that this condition is corrected by adhering to policies and procedures
in this area. Management should comply with applicable requirements and take action if
deficiencies occur.
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Management’s Comment
We concur. The internal control has been designed and implemented with documentation created
to ensure compliance in this area. Management will monitor the control to mitigate the risk of the
area becoming noncompliant.
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